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NOTICE OF APPEAL 

 

NATURE OF THE CASE 

(A)   A general statement of the nature of the controversy  

The Prima Cornice Trail at Vail Mountain has two identified entrances, a 
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“lower gate” and an “upper gate.” On a Sunday in 2012, during the first big 

snowstorm of the year, avalanche danger was high on Vail Mountain. Vail had 

previously closed the upper Prima Cornice Trail gate due to low snow coverage at 

that location; however, the lower gate remained open. Given the high avalanche 

danger on Sunday, January 22, Vail decided to keep the upper Prima Cornice Trail 

gate closed due to avalanche danger. Meanwhile, Vail decided to allow the lower 

gate to remain open. In violation of § 33-44-107(4), Vail did not place any signs or 

ropes at either the upper or lower gates to notify the public of the fact that by 

closing the upper gate, it intended to close that portion of the Prima Cornice Trail 

between the two gates. That afternoon, Taft Conlin skied through the open lower 

gate, turned right, and side stepped up the ridge line between the two gates. Conlin 

descended from the ridge between the two gates and died in an avalanche after 

making several turns. His parents brought this wrongful death lawsuit, claiming 

Vail was negligent per se under the Ski Safety Act in causing Taft’s death.  

(B)  The judgment, order or parts being appealed and a statement 

indicating the basis for the appellate court's jurisdiction 

Ingalls and Conlin appeal from the change of venue order, pretrial orders, 

rulings during trial before a jury, and erroneous instructions and an erroneous 

verdict form that resulted in a defense verdict, and the jury verdict. While the 
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Defendant submitted a proposed form of judgment and the Plaintiffs filed a 

response indicating they do not oppose the proposed form of judgment, it is 

unclear whether the district court has entered its final judgment under C.R.C.P. 

58(a). Some precedent, for instance, indicates that the entry of a minute order 

could satisfy the requirements of C.R.C.P. 58(a). For instance, only one minute 

order dated June 20, 2018, is available on the online filing system. But the online 

docket indicates two entries on that date (the date of the jury’s verdict)—one 

saying “Minute Order – Print” and another indicating “JTRL Dispo – Verdict for 

Defendant.” Another entry that day indicates, “Case Closed.” It’s unclear whether 

judgment has entered. Assuming the district court has appropriately entered 

judgment on the jury’s verdict under C.R.C.P. 58(a), this court then has jurisdiction 

under C.A.R. 4(a).  

(C)  Whether the judgment or order resolved all issues pending before 

the trial court including attorneys' fees and costs 

No. The judgment resolved all issues except for costs. Vail’s request for 

costs remains has yet to be filed.  

(D)  Whether the judgment was made final for purposes of appeal 

pursuant to C.R.C.P. 54(b) 

No. This is an appeal follows a jury verdict and final judgment entered 
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pursuant to C.R.C.P. 58(a).  

(E)  The date the judgment or order was entered (if there is a question of 

the date, set forth the details) and the date of mailing to counsel 

The jury verdict entered on June 20, 2018. Vail submitted a proposed form 

of judgment on July 18, 2018. Ingalls and Conlin filed a response indicating no 

objection to Vail’s form of judgment. The court has not yet entered judgment on 

that form of judgment. The online filing system indicates a minute order entered on 

June 20, 2018. It is unclear whether the court entered final judgment through a 

minute order on June 20, 2018.   

(F)  Whether there were any extensions granted to file any motion(s) for 

post-trial relief, and, if so, the date of the request, whether the request was 

granted, and the date to which filing was extended 

No.  

(G)  The date any motion for post-trial relief was filed 

No such motion was filed.  

(H)  The date any motion for post-trial relief was denied or deemed 

denied under C.R.C.P. 59(j) 

Not applicable.  

(I)  Whether there were any extensions granted to file any notice(s) of 
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appeal, and, if so, the date of the request, whether the request was granted, and 

the date to which filing was extended 

No.  

(3)  An advisory listing of the issues to be raised on appeal 

Whether the district court reversibly erred when it improperly admitted 

misleading, inadmissible, or irrelevant evidence at trial.  

Whether the district court reversibly erred when it improperly excluded 

evidence at trial.  

Whether the district court reversibly erred in its evidentiary or other rulings 

before and during trial.  

Whether the district court reversibly erred when it allowed a jury view.  

Whether the district court reversibly erred when it transferred venue from 

Broomfield County to Eagle County. 

Whether the district court reversibly erred when it denied the plaintiffs’ 

verified motion to disqualify judge  

Whether the district court improperly instructed the jury.  

Whether the district court approved and provided the jury with an improper 

verdict form.  

(4)  Whether the transcript of any evidence taken before the trial court 



6 

or any administrative agency is necessary to resolve the issues raised on appeal; 

Transcripts of the following proceedings, some of which already are 

transcribed, will be necessary to resolve the issues on appeal.  

Transcripts of Proceedings in Eagle County District Court:   

• Transcript of trial proceedings from June 11-15 & 18-20, 2018 

• Transcript of jury instruction conference on June 19, 2018 

• Transcript of Status Conference on June 1, 2018 

• Transcript of Pretrial Readiness Conference on April 23, 2018 

• Transcript of Status Conference on July 27, 2017 

• Transcript of Status Conference on July 24, 2017 

• Transcript of Pretrial Readiness Conference on July 11, 2017 

• Transcript of Hearing on May 15, 2017 

• Transcript of Status Conference on March 28, 2017 

• Transcript of Status Conference on August 1, 2016 

• Transcript of Status Conference on July 15, 2016 

• Transcript of Status Conference on August 3, 2015 

Transcripts of Proceedings in Broomfield County District Court:  

• Transcript of Case Management Conference on February 20, 2015 

• Transcript of Status Conference on August 28, 2014 
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• Transcript of Hearing on June 6, 2014 

• Transcript of Motions Hearing on February 19, 2014 

• Transcript of Status Conference on January 29, 2014 

• Transcript of Motions Hearing on July 12, 2013 

• Transcript of Status Conference on February 27, 2013 

• Transcript of motions Hearing on December 12, 2012 

• Transcript of Status Conference on November 7, 2012 

(5)  Whether the order on review was issued by a magistrate where 

consent was necessary. If the order on review was issued by a magistrate where 

consent was not necessary, whether a petition for review of the order was filed 

in the trial court and ruled on by a trial court judge pursuant to the Colorado 

Rules for Magistrates 

No.  

(6)  The names of counsel for the parties, their addresses, telephone 

numbers, e-mail addresses, and registration numbers 

Counsel for Plaintiffs–Appellants Louise H. Ingalls and Stephen E. Conlin:  
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James G. Heckbert  
  jheckbert@burgsimpson.com  
Nelson Boyle 
  nboyle@burgsimpson.com  
Burg Simpson Eldredge Hersh & Jardine, P.C. 
40 Inverness Drive East 
Englewood, Colorado 80112 
Tel: (303) 792-5595  
Fax: (303) 708-0527 

Counsel for Defendant–Appellee The Vail Corporation: 

Hugh Q. Gottschalk  
  gottschalk@wtotrial.com  
Craig R. May  
  may@wtotrial.com  
Thomas A. Olsen  
  olsen@wtotrial.com  
Wheeler Trigg O’Donnell LLP  
370 17th Street, Suite 4500  
Denver, CO 80202  
Tel: (303) 244-1800 
Fax: (303) 244-1879  

(7)  An appendix containing a copy of the judgment or order being 

appealed, the findings of the court, if any, the motion for new trial, if any, and 

a copy of the trial court's order granting or denying leave to proceed in forma 

pauperis if appellant is filing without docket fee pursuant to C.A.R. 12(b); 

1. Jury Verdict form, dated June 20, 2018.  

2.  Minute Order, dated June 20, 2018 

3. Order Denying Plaintiffs’ Verified Motion to Disqualify Judge, dated 
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July 26, 2017 

4. Order by Hon. C. Scott Crabtree, Broomfield County Dist. Ct., dated 

April 13, 2015  

Dated:  August 8, 2018. 
 
 

BURG SIMPSON ELDREDGE 
HERSH & JARDINE, P.C. 
(Signed Original on File) 

 
/s/ Nelson Boyle    
James G. Heckbert, Reg. No. 37230 
Nelson Boyle, Reg. No. 39525 
Attorneys for Plaintiffs–Appellants  

 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I certify that on August 8, 2018, I served a true and correct copy of the 

foregoing NOTICE OF APPEAL, via the Court E-Filing System, upon: 

Attorneys for The Vail Corporation 
Hugh Q. Gottschalk  
Craig R. May  
Thomas A. Olsen  
Wheeler Trigg O’Donnell LLP 
 

/s/ Nelson Boyle    
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DISTRICT COURT, BROOMFIELD COUNTY, 
STATE OF COLORADO 
Broomfield County Combined Courts 
17 Des Combes Dr. 
Broomfield, CO 80020 
Ph. No. 720-887-2100 
_____________________________________________ 


 LOUISE H. INGALLS and STEPHEN E. 
CONLIN,  
 
Plaintiffs 
 
v. 
 
 THE VAIL CORPORATION, 
 
Defendant 
 
   


 


 


 


 


 


COURT USE ONLY 


____________________ 


Case No.  12 -CV - 175 
 
Division:          B 
Courtroom:      3 
 
 
 


ORDER 
 
 Defendant filed a Motion to Transfer Case to Eagle County District Court 


(Motion) on January 9, 2015. Defendant filed a Response on January 23, 2015.   A 


Reply was filed on January 30, 2015. Plaintiffs filed a Motion to Strike Exhibits 


Attached to Defendant’s Reply on February 3, 2015. The Court permitted plaintiffs 


to file a Surreply. Plaintiffs filed a Surreply on February 6, 2015.  The Court, being 


fully informed, finds and orders as follows: 


History of the Case 


 This case has a long, tortuous history since the complaint was filed on July 


30, 2012.  The complaint was filed based upon an unfortunate skiing accident 


which occurred at Vail on January 22, 2012.  The plaintiffs’ son, Taft, was killed 


as a result of an avalanche while skiing inbounds.  The original complaint alleged 


claims for negligence and wrongful death, negligence per se and wanton and 
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willful conduct.  Thereafter defendant filed a motion to dismiss. After full briefing 


and oral argument the Court granted the motion to dismiss the third claim, willful 


and wanton conduct, but otherwise denied the motion.  On February 2, 2013 a trial 


date was set for January 13, 2014.  On August 7, 2013 a joint motion to continue 


the trial was filed.  On September 13, 2013 a new trial date was set for June 2, 


2014.  On October 9, 2013 plaintiffs filed a motion to amend the complaint to add 


a claim for punitive damages.  A great deal of skirmishing followed.  On 


September 16, 2014 the Court granted the motion to amend the complaint.  Prior to 


that date, on December 11, 2013, plaintiffs filed a motion for determination of law.  


On March 3, 2014 plaintiffs filed a motion for summary judgment.  On March 21, 


2014 defendant filed a motion for judgment on the pleadings.  On June 17, 2014 


the Court denied all motions for summary judgment.  Although the Court cannot 


locate the exact minute order, at some point the June 2, 2014 trial date was 


vacated.  On August 28, 2014 the Court ordered that in light of the pending 


certiorari petition in Fleury v. Intra West Winter Park, the Court would postpone 


setting any new trial date.  On October 10, 2014 the Court, on the parties' 


stipulation, ordered that the proceedings in the case would remain in suspense until 


the Supreme Court acted on the Fleury case.    


 The Motion followed.   


Nature of the Motion  


  Defendant seeks an Order from the Court transferring venue of this case to 


Eagle County District Court.   


Brief Summary of the Parties’ Positions  


 Defendant 


 Judge Melonakis’ prior ruling has made it clear that this case is about the 


Prima Cornice trails.  The primary evidence in the case is the “immovable” Vail 


Mountain condition.  The trial will involve, among other things, a site visit as the 
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only way for the fact-finder to fairly and accurately assess the routes, traverses, 


trail markings, lines of sight, relative distances, cliffs and other permanent natural 


obstacles.  Equally important is the fact that nearly all of the witnesses with 


knowledge of the disputed facts are located in Eagle County.   


 Defendant recited the provisions of C.R.C.P. 98(f)(2) regarding changing the 


place of trial and the cases addressing the necessary showing to be made in support 


of such a motion.  Defendant attached the affidavit of Julie Rust, Vail ski patrol 


director, who identified the Vail ski patrollers who had been deposed in the case 


based on their knowledge of the facts in the case. The affidavit of Craig May was 


also attached.  Therein, as counsel for Vail Corporation, he referenced the 


disclosures and discovery which had identified that five named witnesses were 


residents of Eagle County.  Also attached to May’s affidavit was Table 1, a listing 


of 28 people, their position or relation to the case, their job location/residence and 


where their deposition had been taken.   


 Based on this showing, plaintiffs must now “at least balance” this showing 


to maintain venue in Broomfield County.  Plaintiffs cannot do this and will suffer 


no prejudice from trying the case in Eagle County.   


 Plaintiffs  


 Plaintiffs addressed the factual issues and the procedural history of the case.  


Plaintiffs argued that the Motion was not timely filed in light of the two prior trial 


settings and violates C.R.C.P. 98(e) which requires that such motions be filed 


before the case has been set for trial.  Plaintiffs also asserted that courts should not 


consider the convenience of a party’s employees when considering whether to 


change venue for the convenience of witnesses.  Next, plaintiffs claimed that the 


defendant’s employed witnesses, along with unaffiliated witness, have already 


been taken by video depositions.  Plaintiffs also assailed defendant’s failure to set 


forth the substance, admissibility and materiality of the employee witnesses it 
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claims will be inconvenienced if the case remains in Broomfield County. Finally, 


plaintiffs disagreed with defendant’s claim that a jury view of the scene of the 


avalanche supports a change of venue.1   


 Plaintiffs’ choice of venue should control inasmuch as it is the site of Vail’s 


headquarters and such choices of venue should rarely be disturbed by the court.   


 On January 26, 2015, two days after having filed the Response, plaintiffs 


advised the trial court of the Colorado Supreme Court decision of January 26, 2015 


of  In re Hagan v. Farmers Insurance Exchange, 342 P.3d 427 (Colo. 2015) and 


attached a copy.   


 Defendant’s Reply  


 Vail disputed plaintiffs’ assertion that its Motion was untimely.  Rule 98(e) 


permits a motion to be filed after the case is set for trial if the court, in its 


discretion, finds that a change of venue should be ordered.  Defendant cited to 


Tillery v. District Court in and for Fifth Judicial Dist., 692 P.2d at 1079, for the 


proposition that … “[a] discretionary change of venue under C.R.C.P. 98(f)(2) is 


not restricted by the time of filing…” Id. at 1083.    


 Plaintiffs’ argument that the Court cannot consider the convenience of Vail’s 


employees is contrary to established Colorado law.  The Colorado Supreme Court 


addressed this issue in Dep’t of Highways v. Dist. Court in and For City and Cnty. 


Of Denver,  635 P.2d 889 (Colo. 1981) in which the court stated, in reversing the 


trial court’s denial of a change of venue motion, “[t]he inconvenience to the 


department’s witnesses [which included six department employees] in traveling 


from Kit Carson County Denver, a distance of over 150 miles, coupled with the 


imposition of a Denver trial on the witnesses’ employment responsibilities and 


                                                 
1 It has been correctly noted that there is no motion before the Court for a view of the site.  This Court has serious 
doubts about the feasibility of having jurors scale Vail Mountain and the reasonableness of doing so given the 
changing weather conditions and the uncertainty as to when the trial would be held.  Nevertheless, the Court has not 
considered this argument in its Order.   
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time, were matters which the respondent court, in its sound discretion, should have 


weighed in the deciding the motion.”  Id. at 891-92.   


 Defendant addressed the Hagan case noting that it provided guidance in 


addition to the Dep’t of Highways’ affidavit as an exemplar.  Hagan expanded on 


the requirement that the moving party must show the nature, materiality and 


admissibility of the witnesses’ testimony, explaining that the party must provide a 


“general summary” of what the key witnesses’ testimony will cover.  In this regard 


defendant revisited the affidavits of Rust and May as supporting the requirements 


of Hagan, supra.  Again, defendant argued that moving venue to Eagle County 


would create an opportunity for a site visit to Vail Mountain.   


 Defendant also attached, as Exhibit C, portions of the depositions of Rust, 


Kevin Latchford and William Mattison.  Also attached as Exhibit D was the 


affidavit of William Mattison, a Vail ski patrol supervisor and a member of the 


Vail ski patrol for 27 years.  Therein he addressed the duties and responsibility and 


places of residence and employment of other ski patrol members who have been 


disclosed as potential witnesses.  He addressed their duties and the inconvenience 


for them to travel over 100 miles to Broomfield County rather than Eagle County 


30 miles away.   


 Plaintiffs’ Surreply  


 Plaintiffs asserted that the attached statements of three of the 65 patrol 


members is not material on the issue of whether Vail knew or should have known 


that the public was accessing the areas between the two Prima Cornices gates from 


the lower gate when the upper gate was closed.  The affidavit of William Mattison 


provides only conclusory statements, not based on personal knowledge, but 


inadmissible hearsay.   


 Only when the moving party has made the proper evidentiary showing must 


the party opposing the transfer attempt to balance the showing of the movant.  Vail 
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has failed to make such a showing.   


 The cases cited by defendant in support of a court’s consideration of the 


convenience of the defendant’s employees do not directly state that should be 


considered. Plaintiffs argued that the comment in Dept. of Highways regarding 


consideration of the moving party’s employees’ convenience is only dicta.   


Principles of Law  


C.R.C.P. 98 (f) provides:  


Causes of Change. The court may, on good cause shown, change the place 
of trial in the following cases: (1) When the county designated in the 
complaint is not the proper county; (2) When the convenience of witnesses 
and the ends of justice would be promoted by the change. 


C.R.C.P. 98 (e) provides, in pertinent part:  
 


A motion under sections (c)(3), (f)(2), or (g) of this Rule, shall be filed prior 
to the time a case is set for trial, or the right to have venue changed on said 
grounds is waived, unless the court, in its discretion, upon motion filed or of 
its own motion, finds that a change of venue should be ordered. 


Issues  


1. Was defendant’s Motion timely filed? 


2. If so, has defendant established the grounds to transfer venue to Eagle 


County? 


3. If so, have plaintiffs at least balanced the showing made by defendant?  


Analysis  


1. Was defendant’s Motion timely filed? 


Defendant’s Motion was filed pursuant to C.R.C.P. 98(f)(2), which provides 


for a change of venue when the convenience of witnesses and the ends of justice 


would be promoted by the change.  C.R.C.P. 98(e) addresses the timing of a 


motion to change venue and sets deadlines for filing or the motion is waived.  The 


Court finds that the applicable provision of C.R.C.P. 98(e) is as follows:  
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A motion under sections (c)(3), (f)(2), or (g) of this Rule, shall be filed prior 
to the time a case is set for trial, or the right to have venue changed on said 
grounds is waived, unless the court, in its discretion, upon motion filed or of 
its own motion, finds that a change of venue should be ordered. (Emphasis 
supplied).   


  The Court finds that the clear language of this subsection of the rule grants 


the Court discretion to grant a motion filed after the case has been set for trial, if it 


finds that the change of venue should be ordered.  Thus, it remains to be seen 


whether the change of venue should be ordered, but the Motion is not 


automatically barred.    


2. Has defendant established the grounds to transfer venue to Eagle County? 


No one has argued that the filing of the original complaint in Broomfield 


County was improper in the first instance.   


The Court now has the added advantage of the Colorado Supreme Court’s 


recent guidance set forth in Hagan, supra.   Hagan simply continued the analysis 


previously outlined in predecessor cases.   


C.R.C.P. 98(f) provides that “(t)he court may, on good cause shown, change 
the place of trial ... when the convenience of witnesses and the ends of 
justice would be promoted by the change.” The motion is addressed to the 
sound discretion of the court and “the movant must show, through affidavit 
or evidence, the identity of the witnesses, the nature, materiality and 
admissibility of their testimony, and how the witnesses would be better 
accommodated by the requested change in venue.” Sampson v. District 
Court, 197 Colo. 158, 160, 590 P.2d 958, 959 (1979).  


State, Dep't of Highways v. Dist. Court In & For City & Cnty. of Denver, 635 P.2d 
at 891.   
  
 Hagan tightened the analysis the Court should conduct regarding the 


submittals in support of the motion to change venue.  First, conclusory statements 


do not satisfy the requirement for supporting affidavits.  Second, affidavits in 


support of a change cannot focus on a plaintiffs’ residential or professional 
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address.  “…[A] plaintiff’s convenience is not a defendant’s concern.”  Hagan at 


435.  Third, “…to satisfy the standard set forth in Sampson, the affidavits must 


contain three categories of pertinent information: (1) ‘the identity of the witnesses’; 


(2) ‘the nature, materiality and admissibility of their testimony’; and (3) ‘how the 


witnesses would be better accommodated by the requested change in venue.’ See 


Sampson, 197 Colo. at 160, 590 P.2d at 959. No category is determinative; the trial 


court must assess the totality of the circumstances to assess whether a change of 


venue is necessary and appropriate.” Id. at 435.    


The Identity of the Witnesses 


 The Court initially rejects plaintiffs’ argument that the convenience of a 


movant’s own employees cannot be considered in a Rule 98(f) motion to change 


venue.  In State Dept. of Highways, supra, the Supreme Court explicitly referenced 


the department’s inclusion of its own six employees in its affidavit in support of 


establishing inconvenience and held that the Court should consider them.  Nothing 


in that opinion excluded the convenience of department’s employees from being 


considered.  Likewise, in Hagan, the Supreme Court was critical of Farmers for 


having ignored its own employees in their affidavits, noting that only one affidavit 


had identified “any of Farmers’ own employee-witnesses by name.” Hagan at 435.  


Once again, Hagan did not declare that the Court may not consider the 


convenience of a movant’s employees in making its analysis.   


  Hagan was critical of Farmers’ identification of witnesses because they 


omitted names or used only business names or omitted complete information for 


each witness.  Defendant has, by affidavits of Rust, Director of the Vail ski patrol, 


May, counsel for defendant and Mattison, a Vail ski patrol supervisor, made 


identifications of witnesses.  Rust’s affidavit stated:  
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May’s affidavit attached Table 1.  Table 1 cannot be recreated here.  The list 


was organized  as follows: 


Name    Position/Relation to Case   Job Location/Residence  Deposition Location.   


Under each category the table listed the individual’s name; their status, such as 


COO Vail Mtn.; Patrol Director; Patroller; Friend of Conlin (deceased); where the 


witness lived or worked; and the location of deposition, which reflected that all but 


two depositions having been conducted somewhere other than Eagle County.   


The affidavit of Mattison, like that of Rust, identified the witnesses and their 


involvement with the case as follows:   


 
 The Court finds that these designations of witnesses comport with the 


requirements of Hagan.   The first and last name of each witness has been 
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identified along with their affiliation as a witness.   


 The Nature, Materiality and Admissibility of the Witnesses’ Testimony  


 Hagan provided further direction to the Court in assessing this category.   


This court has applied this requirement (and deemed it fulfilled) in cases 
such as Department of Highways. See 635 P.2d at 890–92. But we have not 
yet expanded on what it takes to satisfy this requirement. We do so today, 
turning to commentary on 28 U.S.C. § 1404 (2014) (the federal counterpart 
to Rule 98) for guidance. 
The party seeking a change of venue must provide at least “a general 
summary” of what the key witnesses' testimony will cover. See 15 Charles 
Alan Wright, Arthur R. Miller & Edward H. Cooper, Federal Practice and 
Procedure § 3851 (3d ed.2010). That description should provide the 
reviewing court with enough information to understand whether the 
witnesses are important or peripheral. Id. (noting that the description should 
allow the trial court “to determine what and how important their testimony 
will be”). Consider, for example, a case in which one key nonparty witness 
is located in or near the original venue and another key nonparty witness is 
located in or near the proposed venue. The description should allow the 
court to make an informed judgment as to their respective importance. In 
addition, if the admissibility of a witness's testimony is in question (e.g., 
because it contains hearsay), the affidavit identifying that witness should 
briefly explain why his or her testimony will likely be admissible. 
 


Hagan v. Farmers Ins. Exch., 342 P.3d at 436.  (Emphasis supplied).  


 Rust’s affidavit indicated that the Vail ski patrollers were responsible for 


marking, opening and closing ski trails on Vail Mountain, including Prima 


Cornice.  Rust stated that, “[s]everal Patrollers have information relevant to this 


lawsuit because, among other things, they either worked on or are familiar with the 


trial closure that are at issue in this suit, or because they responded to the incident, 


or because…they worked on the Patrol’s investigation of the incident.”  Again, the 


affidavit identified those people as follows:  
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 Mattison’s affidavit also addressed the patrollers’ responsibilities and the 


information they possess regarding the issues involved2 in this lawsuit.  Mattison 


indicated that he was a ski patrol supervisor and was an initial responder to the 


avalanche accident on January 22, 2012.  His affidavit identified the patrollers as 


follows:  


 
 The Court finds that based on Mattison’s role as a supervisor of Vail’s ski 


patrollers and his involvement as a first responder, the statements contained in the 


cited portion of his affidavit state facts and identify testimony that would be 
                                                 
2 Contrary to plaintiffs’ argument in the surreply that the identified witnesses’ statements were not material on the 
issue of whether Vail knew or should have known the public was accessing the area between the Two Prima Cornice 
gates from the lower gate when the upper gate was closed (p. 2), that is not the only issue in the trial.   
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admissible based on the personal involvement of the identified patrollers in the 


incident.3  Likewise, the Court does not find that Mattison’s or Rust’s statements in 


their affidavits are conclusory.   


 How the Witnesses Would be Affected  


 Hagan addressed this factor as follows4:  


Last, we assess whether Farmers' attorney affidavits establish “how the 
witnesses would be better accommodated by the requested change in venue.” 
In other words, how will the change affect the witnesses? 
The affidavits do not establish how any witnesses would be better 
accommodated by the requested change of venue. Distance and travel time 
logically factor into convenience, but they are not dispositive. (Emphasis 
supplied).  


 
Hagan v. Farmers Ins. Exch., 342 P.3d at 437.   


 In addressing the convenience issue, State Dept. of Highways, supra, stated, 


“[i]n this case the department demonstrated by affidavit that its witnesses, who 


were substantial in number, would be better accommodated by the change of venue 


to the district court of Kit Carson County.”  State, Dep't of Highways v. Dist. Court 


In & For City & Cnty. of Denver, 635 P.2d at 891.   


 In Mattison’s affidavit he addressed the inconvenience to the many ski patrol 


members as a result of the trial being held in Broomfield as opposed to Eagle 


County.  He stated as follows:  


 
                                                 
3 The excerpts from the depositions of Rust, Mattison and Kevin Latchford, attached to the Response as Exhibit C, 
clearly reflect their personal knowledge and involvement in the incident.   
4 The Supreme Court was primarily critical of Farmers’ affidavits, rather than setting forth clear guidance on this 
category like it had done on the other categories.     
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 Mattison’s affidavit indicated that many ski patrollers who are designated 


witnesses in the case, also live and work in or near Eagle County during the off-


season.  During the off-season they work for Vail in other capacities either full-


time or part-time.  While statements of other ski patrollers were not included, 


Mattison indicated that the twelve named ski patrollers would be required to be 


away from their jobs and travel over 100 miles each way to get to the Broomfield 


Courthouse to testify.   Hagan was also critical of Farmers for not indicating the 


witnesses to be called or providing a complete list of the witnesses.5  Attached as 


Table 1 to May’s affidavit was a listing of the witnesses already deposed.  As of 


the time of filing the Table on January 8, 2015, depositions have been taken of ten 


Vail ski patrollers.  Six of those deposed ski patrollers were identified by Mattison 


as persons who also work either full or part-time in the off-season for Vail.   


 A less than “bright-line” test was provided by the Supreme Court in the 


closing portion of its analysis of convenience when it stated, “[b]ut when two 


closely situated counties are under scrutiny, no bright line separates convenience 


from inconvenience. For instance, assuming that the witnesses listed in Farmers' 


attorney affidavit in Mayfield's case actually will testify, where does a 76.5– to 


97.6–mile difference fall on the convenience spectrum?” Hagan v. Farmers Ins. 


                                                 
5 The best a Court can expect to have before the filing of a Trial Management Order, indicating the witnesses to be 
called, are the Rule 26(a)(1) disclosures of witnesses or an indication of witnesses who have been deposed based on 
their knowledge and/or involvement in the case.   
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Exch., 342 P.3d at 438.   The problem with this last statement is that the two 


counties in question, Boulder and El Paso, are hardly “closely situated” counties.   


Is there a magic number of miles, like the 150-200 mile range mentioned in Hagan 


that provides the key to convenience?  Probably not, because Hagan declared that, 


“f]inally, distance and travel time—while relevant—constitute a nebulous 


benchmark.”  Hagan v. Farmers Ins. Exch., 342 P.3d at 437.  


 The fact is that Eagle County and Broomfield County are NOT closely 


situated counties in Colorado.  They are separated by over 100 miles, according to 


the affidavits, which distance has to be traveled on difficult stretches of I-70 which 


can be clogged by traffic, become dangerously icy in the winter and sometimes 


closed by accidents as vehicles maneuver the winding mountain roadway.6   


  Hagan has also recognized, however, that no one of the three categories 


controls.   


Second, to satisfy the standard set forth in Sampson, the affidavits must 
contain three categories of pertinent information: (1) “the identity of the 
witnesses”; (2) “the nature, materiality and admissibility of their testimony”; 
and (3) “how the witnesses would be better accommodated by the requested 
change in venue.” See Sampson, 197 Colo. at 160, 590 P.2d at 959. No 
category is determinative; the trial court must assess the totality of the 
circumstances to assess whether a change of venue is necessary and 
appropriate. (Emphasis supplied).  


Hagan v. Farmers Ins. Exch., 342 P.3d at 435.   


 Considering the totality of the circumstances presented by the affidavits 


submitted in support of the Motion, the Court finds that defendant established that   


transfer of the venue of this case to Eagle County is necessary and appropriate.  


3.   If so, have plaintiffs at least balanced the showing made by defendant?  
                                                 
6 “Facts subject to the judicial notice rule are those ‘not subject to reasonable dispute’ and must be either ‘generally 
known within the territorial jurisdiction of the trial court’ or ‘capable of accurate and ready determination by resort 
to sources whose accuracy cannot reasonably be questioned.’ CRE 201(b).” Quintana v. City of Westminster, 56 
P.3d 1193, 1199 (Colo. App. 2002).   
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“When the movant makes the requisite showing, the party opposing the 


change ‘must at least balance the showing made by the moving party’ or the court 


should grant the motion. Dep't of Highways, 635 P.2d at 891.” Hagan v. Farmers 


Ins. Exch., 342 P.3d at 434.  The cases have been less than clear on what this 


“balance” looks like.  A change of venue pursuant to Rule 98(f) requires that a 


moving party establish entitlement by the filing of affidavits or evidence 


establishing particular facts.   “In Sampson, this court made clear that the party 


moving to change venue under Rule 98(f)(2) must show, ‘through affidavit or 


evidence, the identity of the witnesses, the nature, materiality and admissibility of 


their testimony, and how the witnesses would be better accommodated by the 


requested change in venue.’ 197 Colo. at 160, 590 P.2d at 959…” Hagan v. 


Farmers Ins. Exch., 342 P.3d at 434.  It would seem incumbent on a party 


opposing such a motion or “balancing” the categories to present countervailing 


affidavits or admissible evidence establishing that the present venue is not 


inconvenient to the witnesses.7 The Court has examined the exhibits attached to 


plaintiffs’ Response.  None were affidavits, verified exhibits or sworn testimony 


supporting retaining venue in Broomfield.  Plaintiffs did not attach any exhibits to 


their Surreply.  The Response and Surreply contained nothing more than 


arguments by counsel opposing the change of venue.8   


The Court finds that plaintiffs have not balanced the showing made by 


defendant for a change of venue and therefore grants a change of venue to Eagle 


County for further proceedings.   
                                                 
7 For example, “[o]nce the party moving for summary judgment has made a convincing showing that genuine issues 
of fact are lacking, the opposing party cannot rest upon the mere allegations or denials in his or her pleadings, but 
must demonstrate by specific facts that a controversy exists. Sullivan v. Davis, 172 Colo. 490, 474 P.2d 218 (1970). 
Neither may a genuine issue of material fact be raised merely by the argument of counsel. Brown v. Teitelbaum, 830 
P.2d 1081 (Colo.App.1991).” Cedar Lane Investments v. St. Paul Fire & Marine Ins. Co., 883 P.2d 600, 602 (Colo. 
App. 1994).  


8 Plaintiffs’ Response and Surreply seemed to suggest that plaintiffs had no obligation to make such a showing 
because defendant failed to make the necessary evidentiary showing.  They failed to do so at their peril.  
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Order 


 Defendant’s’ Motion is granted for the reasons set forth herein and the Clerk 


of Court is ordered to transfer venue of this case to Eagle County.   


 Dated this 13th day of April, 2015. 


 


      By the Court: 


 
                                  C. Scott Crabtree 


District Court Judge 
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ORDER DENYING PLAINTIFFS’ VERIFIED MOTION TO DISQUALIFY JUDGE 


 


 THIS MATTER is before the District Court for Eagle County, Colorado, on Plaintiffs’ 


Verified Motion to Disqualify Judge. After a full and fair consideration of the record and 


arguments presented, the motion is denied. 


Defendant cites in its Response to Plaintiff’s Motion to Disqualify Judge, and the Court 


accepts for the purpose of this Order, that a motion to disqualify and the required affidavit must 


state facts from which it may reasonably be inferred that the judge harbors bias or prejudice that 


will prevent him or her from dealing fairly with the party seeking recusal. Moody v. Corsentino, 


843 P.2d 1355 (Colo. 1993). “In a civil case, the trial judge’s decision whether to disqualify 


himself or herself is discretionary and will not be reversed unless an abuse of discretion is 


shown.” Zoline v. Telluride Lodge Ass’n, 732 P.2d 635, 639 (Colo. 1987). 


 Plaintiffs request disqualification of the Court as a consequence of statements made by 


the Court in the course of a nearly four hour pre-trial hearing on eleven motions in limine filed 


by the two parties. The statements attributed to the Court come out of discussions between the 


parties’ lawyers and the Court on multiple issues, some distinct to a singular motion in limine, 
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others more common to various motions in limine, and arguments to the Court and with the 


Court on whether certain purported evidence should be admitted, admitted for a limited purpose 


or not admitted at trial. These statements of the Court dealt with issues of relevance and/or 


admissibility, not factual accuracy or factual findings.   Plaintiffs’ Motion to Disqualify Judge 


takes these statements of the Court out of context of the pre-trial hearing, presents such 


statements selectively to create apparent bias on the part of the Court and for a purpose not 


intended by the Court. A more complete recital of the exchange is required. 


 MR. HECKBERT:  I think I understand, but would I be permitted to put 


on evidence that if it is true that prior to the storm of that weekend, there was no 


avalanche mitigation done on that trial that goes to the risk. 


 THE COURT:  My initial thought about it is so what? Vail has no 


duty to do any avalanche risk. It has no duty to close any run. Under the – until 


Fleury becomes fleshed out through various appellate decisions, essentially, you 


go to a mountain to ski and if you are inbounds, your risk is your own. Now, 


unless and until – unless and until – the mountain takes steps to stop you from 


going to certain areas, those steps were either ineffective or in and of themselves 


– you know, I’m hesitant to use words that I have to live with, but failed to meet 


the – maybe I’ll use this way: A good faith effort to comply with whatever the 


intention was under the notice provision, signage provisions of the statute. 


 So, yeah, the same question might be asked, you know, if you looked at 


the case – which we’re not – as a comparatively negligent case, to what extent did 


the kids know there were high avalanche risks when they chose to go to that 


section of the mountain. I don’t know that it’s relevant. 


 MR. HECKBERT: The relevance, Your Honor, it goes to the likelihood 


of there being an injury. It goes to punitive damages. It goes to risk. 


 THE COURT:  No, it doesn’t. it goes to whether there was adequate 


– whether a risk identified was adequately conveyed, if the decision to convey it 


at all was made. 


 Now, there was actually a decision to convey it because they closed that 


upper section. But I tend to agree, in a general sense, with Vail. The concept is 


they don’t have to explain the reasoning. They don’t have to have a sign up there 


that says: “Today is a very very very bad windy day with a lot of heavy snow 


from a recent storm and prone to avalanche.” They don’t have that duty to explain 


that level of detail to any potential user. But if they choose to close that area, they 


have to do it correctly. I mean, that is what I think their obligation is. 


 MR. HECKBERT: Are you permitting at least the jury to know that 


Vail intended to close that area because of high avalanche risk? 
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 THE COURT:  Well, sure. Because that’s what they did. That’s 


what – I mean, that’s consistent with what they did. They left the upper portal – 


 MR. HECKBERT: Well, no, it’s not. I think there’s an issue as to that, 


Your Honor. 


 THE COURT:  Well, I think what you’re telling me is that in your 


depositions or evidence taken from various Vail members, that there may be 


inconsistent or agreement amongst them as to what their ultimate design was that 


day. 


 MR. HECKBERT:  No. 


 THE COURT:  No? 


 MR. HECKBERT: No, I think their ultimate design and intent was 


clear. The thing is that they knew that anyone who went in that area, that there 


was a substantial likelihood that they would be caught in an avalanche and I think 


I’m entitled to put those admissions into evidence. 


 THE COURT:  Yeah, but the comeback to that is, is anyone’s dumb 


enough to enter into and traverse uphill into an area they know is closed from the 


access portal up above, then they have the risk attendant to that problem. Neither 


side gets to try to paint with the level of vehemence the rationales that each party 


chose. 


 I think you have a valid issue to put in front of a jury as to what Vail tried 


to do; did they do it sufficiently; did it accomplish its intended purpose; was it just 


the opposite? Was it ineffective and not? But opening that door then opens the 


door to the actions taken by the decedent. I mean, clearly – 


 MR. HECKBERT: Well, that assumes that the decedent had knowledge 


about anything at all about avalanche conditions. 


 THE COURT:  Here’s the anecdotal information that you’ve got 


that you’re ready to present and it has been sort of a not so huge secret. Every ski 


area has, as one of its major operating problems, the desire by people to go where 


they are not allowed and not intended to go. And it is often done with absolute 


knowledge that they are not intended to go. 


 I mean, I’ve spent 44 years of my life between Aspen and Vail and, you 


know, this is the most common theme. Somebody chooses to ski somewhere 


which proves to be disastrous. Now, whether it’s the mountain’s fault or the 


skier’s fault or a combination, that’s what’s left for us to figure out. 


 But I don’t think it’s relevant evidence that the qualitative component of 


Vail’s avalanche actions is not at risk here. What is at risk here is that having 


taken the decision to close that area, did they effectively close it? 


 I think your argument – which I gather is going to be put on through a 


variety of means – is, no, they didn’t. You know, they made it easy – they made it 


easy for people. 


 


Plaintiffs also raise a concern with the following colloquy: 







 4 


 THE COURT:  Number three. Court Should Preclude Plaintiffs 


From Offering Irrelevant Skier Behavior Evidence. This really goes to whether 


there should be six, four, three, two, one witnesses testifying about behavior that 


runs contrary to what Vail asserts was the norm. I don’t intend to rule on the 


number today, but I will tell you at some point it becomes cumulative, and, at that 


point, I would stop it. 


 MR. HECKBERT: Your Honor, may I just comment? This testimony is 


going to be brief. I am putting it on for the purposes of notice. And certainly if 


five – I think my plan is to put five people on and just ask them did you – what 


did you do to access? 


 THE COURT:  But the purpose of notice is – I mean, I respectfully 


raise my eyebrows a little bit because, frankly, you’re putting it on to show that 


people broke the rule and that the inference is that if Vail had been paying 


attention to its business, it would have noticed people broke the rule, and if it had 


noticed it, it either should have done something or didn’t do something. 


 If there was six people who said, “I broke this rule. I met a ski patrolman. 


I talked to the patrolman, he told me not to do it again and I did it next week 


anyway,” then it has, to me, a different component or character to it. That would 


be notice. 


 The mere fact that six people said, “I broke the rules” to me does not 


create notice in and of itself. It’s got to be what the ski company was able to learn 


from that, if anything. 


 MR. HECKBERT:  Your Honor, with all respect, from what the Court’s 


just said is the Court is predisposed to and has taken that attitude that these people 


by going in the lower gate when the upper gate was closed with no rope closure 


saying they can’t side step up that they’re breaking the rules. And I’m wondering 


if the Court has a predisposed opinion about this case. 


 THE COURT:  Well, you’re asking me to what extent I have a bias 


or prejudice, and my answer to you is I’m not the finder of fact, and I’m here 


talking with you in the context of what becomes relevant evidence. 


 And what I’m saying to you is that I think it’s relevant for you to put on 


evidence that people have done certain things that are consistent with what the 


defendant ended up doing. I leave it to the jury to figure out whether this 


constituted a violation of the mountain’s obligations to the skier or the skier’s 


obligation to the mountain. 


 Frankly, you know, having spent 40 years in ski mountain, working for or 


around ski mountain-driven towns, I clearly have a wealth of experience and 


evidence as to what is or isn’t general behavior in these topics. 


 I can tell you if I were the trier of fact, I would be much less verbose with 


you on these topics. But I’m not. I’m trying to determine what becomes 


cumulative or not. Five may be better than six. Four may be better than three. I 


don’t know. 


 What I do know is that if I were to hear four people say what I thought 


was exactly the same thing, I would be less disposed to have a fifth person come 
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up and testify. If each person testified to something that had some component that 


was individual from the others, then, I might be happy. 


 The fact that you’re saying to me that it’s shorter rather than longer makes 


it a stronger argument for letting more come in. 


 What I’m trying to say is that cumulative, like pornography, is something 


you know when you see it; it’s hard for me to describe. In the same context, 


where I would not allow in a criminal case seven pictures of gory, dismembered 


body parts that showed the same general condition, that’s the concept of 


cumulative. I don’t know if it applies here and I won’t know until I see it; but if I 


thought it was, I would act that way. 


 


These discussions were clearly in regard to determinations on admissibility of evidence. These 


discussions were clearly in regard to what evidence, in specific, should be relevant and allowed 


at the upcoming jury trial. These discussions were clearly theoretical discussions as to the 


arguments for and against the relevance and admissibility of particular evidence. That this 


purpose was apparently not clear to Plaintiffs is regrettable, but not the basis for disqualification. 


 A judge is not required to leave his life experience at the door. See, generally, People v. 


Owens, 219 P.3d 379 (Colo. App. 2009). A judge is not required to be a robot, formulaically 


applying arcane rules in some massive equation in which human elements are mere bits of 


meaningless data. Keppel v. BaRoss Builders, Inc., 7 Conn. App. 435, 444 (Conn. App. 1986) (“a 


judge is a human being, not the type of unfeeling robot some would expect the judge to be”). 


Rather, judges are expected to apply their life experiences to the cases before them. South Cent. 


Bell v. Epps, 509 So. 2d, 886, 893(Miss. 1987) (“such a decision cannot come from a precise 


formula, but rather must come from the trial judge’s life experience”).  


 The key, as in all matters judicial, is to treat people fairly. There is absolutely no 


suggestion from the totality of the statements made by the Court within the context of the issues 


addressed at the pre-trial hearing on the multiple motions in limine that the Court will treat 
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Plaintiffs, or Defendant, unfairly. And, as Vail wryly notes in its Response, the Court did on that 


date, as well as earlier in the case, enter “plenty of actual ruling in Plaintiffs’ favor”.  


 Plaintiffs’ motion is DENIED on these grounds. Plaintiffs filed their Motion to 


Disqualify Judge on July 19, 2017. Pursuant to C.R.C.P. 97,  “. . . all other proceeding are to be 


suspended until a ruling is made thereon.”  Several motions in limine and Plaintiff’s Forthwith 


Motion for Determination on Law remain unaddressed. A Jury Trial is scheduled to commence 


on August 7th, 2017. The Court commences a different trial on August 2, 2017 for three days and 


has other matters calendared for most of the remaining time between today and August 2, 2017. 


The Court will hold a telephone status conference on Thursday, July 26, 2017, at 10:00 to 


determine how or whether to proceed with the scheduled trial or whether the remaining business 


warrants vacating and re-scheduling the August 7, 2017 trial date.  


  DONE AND DATED this 26th day of July, 2017, at Eagle. 


 


 








 
 
 
 


Minute Orders
Case Number:2015CV000015  Division:4


Case Type:Wrongful Death Judicial Officer:Frederick Walker Gannett
Case Caption: Ingalls, Louise H et al v. The Vail Corporation Court Location:Eagle County


  Related Case Number:2012CV175 - Broomfield County
  Appellate Case Number:2017SA182 - Supreme Court


 
Order Date: 06/20/2018


  
JUDGE GANNETT / COURTROOM 4 / COURT REPORTER: FRANCES LENART / FTR 8:53-9:28 9:36-11:17 11:34-12:55 2:35-3:18 4:55-
5:00 APPEARANCES: L. INGALLS & S. CONLIN, PTFS / J. HECKBERT, COUNSEL FOR PTFS / H. GOTTSCHALK; ET AL, COUNSEL
FOR DEF COURT CALLS CASE, JURY TRIAL DAY 8 / COURT LAYS OUT PROCEDURE FOR TODAY / JURY INSTRUCTIONS
DISCUSSION; COURT WILL TAKE ALL OF THE TENDERED BUT REJECTED INSTRUCTIONS AND FILE THOSE AS PART OF THE
RECORD; ALL OVERSIZED DEMONSTRATIVE EXHIBITS WILL HAVE A PICTURE TAKEN FOR THE PURPOSE OF THE PARTIES
UPLOADING ALL EXHIBITS ELECTRONICALLY / COURT READS JURY INSTRUCTIONS TO THE JURORS / CLOSING ARGUMENTS
MADE / JURORS SWORN / BAILIFF SWORN / DELIBERATIONS BEGIN / ATTY MAY ADDRESSES COURT RE DIRECTED VERDICT &
CLAIM FOR EXEMPLARY DAMAGES / ATTY HECKBERT RESPONDS RE DIRECTED VERDICT, DECLINES TO RESPOND RE CLAIM
FOR EXEMPLARY DAMAGES / COURT DENIES DEFENDANTS 2 RULE 50 MOTIONS / JURORS RETURN WITH VERDICT AT 4:55 PM /
FOREPERSON PASSES / COURT READS VERDICT INTO THE RECORD / ATTY HECKBERT REQUESTS POLL OF JURORS / COURT
POLLS JURY; COURT INSTRUCTS JURY AS TO FINAL INSTRUCTION; JURORS ARE EXCUSED / ATTY GOTTSCHALK INQUIRES AS
TO CONTACTING THE JURY / COURT WILL SPEAK WITH JURORS AND IF THEY WOULD LIKE TO SPEAK TO THE ATTORNEYS
CLERK WILL INFORM THEM /MJH


DATE FILED: August 8, 2018 5:35 PM 
FILING ID: E9E053EEFA879 
CASE NUMBER: 2018CA1471



javascript:caseCaptionClicked('19D2015CV000015');

https://www.jbits.courts.state.co.us/efiling/web/caseInformation/caseHistory.htm?caseNumber=80D2012CV175

https://www.jbits.courts.state.co.us/efiling/web/caseInformation/caseHistory.htm?caseNumber=500S2017SA182






DATE FILED: August 21, 2018 5:21 PM 
FILING ID: CE08065A292E2 
CASE NUMBER: 2018CA1471




















DATE FILED: June 21, 2018 
CASE NUMBER: 2015CV15


DATE FILED: August 8, 2018 5:35 PM 
FILING ID: E9E053EEFA879 
CASE NUMBER: 2018CA1471













